COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 FEB 17 AM 9: 19
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY
DEPUTY

46400-4-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

ARTHUR WEST, appellant,

Vs.

TESC, STATE OF WASHINGTON, respondents

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Arthur West 120 State Ave N.E. #1497 Olympia, Washington, 98501

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case underscores why the paramount right to be informed of the operation of government is a necessary precondition to the sound governance of a free society.

For the laws off the State of Washington to actually be enforced as they are written on the campus of TESC, it is imperative that the records concerning the enforcement of the TESC Trespass policy be disclosed, and that our courts operate fairly and as required by the constitution and laws.

This appeal concerns a manifestly illegal policy that the TESC administration employs to arbitrarily exclude the public from State lands under false color of the criminal trespass law.

Despite representing to the Superior Court that the practice

had been discontinued and obtaining a dismissal in Cause No 89-2-00696-8 under that representation, (See CP 83-89) the institution quietly resumed the illegal policy, employing it to criminalize citizens access to State property held in trust for the people by the TESC Trustees.

When West requested records related to the trrespass policy and the "TESC Trespass List" in 2012, the institution failed to produce the "TESC Trespass List" it maintained and which had been recently produced to another requester. Instead, the institution concealed the existence of the "TESC Trespass List" and produced, instead, a different document, a listing of trespass reports that postdated West's request.

In addition, the agency refused to make a reasonable search for or produce known responsive records such as police reports, or the correspondence and communications requested by West, stating that no other such records existed and he would have to file additional requests to obtain responsive police reports.

To add injury to insult, when West entered onto the campus to

inspect TESC records, he was threatened with the application of the TESC Trespass Policy and arrested, detained, falsely imprisoned for investigation of "Criminal Trespass" pursuant to policies usages and customs of the Evergreen State College. The first, unaltered declaration of John Hurley (CP 52, lines 4-5) attests to the Unlawful policy correctly.

The declaration of Officer Monohon also attests to an arrest and detention under color of the TESC Trespass Policy (CP 117) Yet despite clear contested facts concerning the unlawful seizure and detention of West under color of the TESC Trespass Policy, and inconsistent and contradictory testimony from the TESC witnesses, the court wrongfully granted summary judgment to TESC on all issues.

Under these circumstances the various actions of the Superior Court complained of herein regarding continuances, evidence¹, and evasion of entry of a final order are not merely abuses in and of themselves, but serve as obstacles to the correction of a more serious

¹ Including allowing the submission of altered and possibly perjured affidavits by TESC's John Hurley

abuse, the decades long history of arbitrary and illegal exclusion of the public from the TECS campus at the whim of the administrator at the desk, personified in the form of TESC's bellicose John Hurley.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I The Court erred in failing to find a violation of the PRA when TESC failed to produce its Criminal
Trespass List and other responsive records in an apparent attempt to obscure the continuing arbitrary and
unconstitutional exclusion of members of the public from State land
10iii State land10
II The Court erred in dismissing appellant's claims
including those related to the threats, arrest, and false
imprisonment by TESC under color of its criminal
trespass policy taken to chill the exercise of West's
constitutional rights16
III The Court erred in failing to grant a continuance, suppressing relevant evidence, allowing the submission of inconsistent and/or perjured testimony, and in granting summary judgment when factual issues were disputed
IV The Court erred in abusing its discretion to attempt
to evade an appeal by not entering a final Order subject
to Appeal

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I Did the Court err in failing to find a violation of the PRA when TESC failed to produce its Criminal Trespass List and other responsive records in an apparent attempt to obscure the continuing arbitrary and unconstitutional exclusion of members of the public from State land? Yes

II Did the Court erred in dismissing appellant's claims including those related to the threats, arrest, and false imprisonment by TESC under color of its criminal trespass policy taken to chill the exercise of West's constitutional rights? Yes

III Did the Court err in failing to grant a continuance, suppressing relevant evidence, allowing the submission of inconsistent and/or perjured testimony, and in granting summary judgment when factual issues were disputed? Yes

IV Did the Court err in abusing its discretion to attempt to evade an appeal by not entering a final Order subject to Appeal? Yes

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the TESC Trespass Policy and a public records request filed by West for records related to the enforcement of the TESC Trespass Policy. (CP 4-8)

In May of 1989, following the filing of a motion for summary

judgment in West v. TESC, Thurston County Cause No. 89-2-00696-8, the College allegedly discontinued the illegal practice. (CP 82-89)

However, in 2014 we still see the institution maintaining a Trespass List and illegally excluding members of the public from peaceable and legal access to State land (CP at 20-34) it is no wonder they have a problem with full disclosure of the details of their enforcement of such a policy.

On 3-16-12 West requested...

- 1.The TESC trespass list and... a copy of any communications or final orders related to the TESC Criminal trespass list, 2008 to present.
- 2. Any records of prosecution or arrest of individuals for violation of the TESC Trespass policy
- 3. A current version of the TESC Trespass policy and any related WAC filing. (CP at 4-8)

West requested the TESC Trespass List in March of 2012 and the institution unreasonably delayed producing a response until after the filing of a complaint in the instant action. Even when the response was made the agency withheld known responsoive records and produced a document created after the records request differing from the actual TESC Trespass List. (Transcript of August 3, 2012,

at page 8, line 23 – Page 9 line 19)

The TESC records officer in her response expressly denied that the college had any other responsive records, (CP at 17-18) and stated that West would be required to file a further request to obtain the records he had requested in the March 16 request. (CP at 18)

West <u>was not</u> provided with "The TESC trespass list and... a copy of any communications or final orders related to the TESC Criminal trespass list, 2008 to present." (CP 17-18)

West <u>was not</u> provided with "Any records of prosecution or arrest of individuals for violation of the TESC Trespass policy." (CP 17-18)

West <u>was not</u> provided with "A current version of the TESC Trespass policy and any related WAC filing." (CP 17-18)

On May 8, 2015, plaintiff filed the instant action.(CP at 4-8)

On August 3, 2012, the Court heard argument and ruled on the preliminary issue of whether the agency's deliberate failure to produce the TESC Trespass list and other responsive records until after a suit was filed Violated the PRA. (Transcript of August 3, 2012)

On November 15 2014 an Order was entered finding the agency had not violated the PRA, (CP at 46 and 48-50) despite clear evidence in the record that the agency had not provided responsive records. (CP at 17-18)

On December 20, 2013, the Court heard argument on a second Motion for Summary Judgment and a cross motion, and on January 3, 2014, entered a Final Order. (CP at 110-112)

On January 13, the plaintiff made a timely motion for reconsideration. (CP at 177-180)

On May 16, 2014, the Court abused its discretion by refusing to enter an order denying reconsideration.(CP at 189)

On June 16, 2014, a timely notice of appeal was filed. (CP at 190-199)

ORDERS ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks review of the Order of November 15, 2013 (CP 48-50) and the Order of January 3, 2014. (CP 110-112)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

De Novo

ARGUMENT

I The Court erred in failing to find a violation of the PRA when TESC failed to produce its Criminal Trespass List and other responsive records in an apparent attempt to obscure the continuing arbitrary and unconstitutional exclusion of members of the public from State land

This case underscores why the paramount right to be informed of the operation of government is a necessary precondition to the sound governance of a free society.

The PRA provides that... full access to information concerning the conduct of government on every level must be assured as a fundamental and necessary precondition to the sound governance of a free society."); *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, 580 P.2d 246 (1978) ("The Washington public disclosure act is a strongly-worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records."). Yet TESC in this case deliberately refused to comply with

this strongly worded mandate in an attempt to cover up the unlawful application of their Trespass Policy.

As Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, appearing in the record at CP 12-23 made clear, TESC failed to make a good faith search (See CP 13 at lines 4-6 and lines 15-17) for Trespass related records that it knew to be in existence from its own response to West and its response to earlier requests.

The TESC Trespass List (CP 27-34) was one known record, produced to a previous requester, Greg Hohnholtz just a few months prior to West's request. Yet its existence was denied and it was not produced to West.

The police reports were also known records that should have been provided without the requirement of an additional request. In addition, there are undoubtably many Trespass related communications and records still being withheld to this very day. Yet, as West argued in his Motion for Summary Judgment, the agency refused to make a reasonable search for these records or produce them.

As the Supreme Court underscored in the Neighborhood Alliance decision...

...(A)gencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered. Valencia-Lucena v. U.S. Coast Guard, 336 U.S. App. D.C. 386, 180 F.3d 321, 326 (1999). The search should not be limited to one or more places if there are additional sources for the information requested. Valencia-Lucena, 180 F.3d at 326. Indeed, "the agency cannot limit its search to only one record system if there are others that are likely to turn up the information requested." Oglesby v. U.S. Dep't of Army, 287 U.S. App. D.C. 126, 920 F.2d 57, 68 (1990).

TESC should not be allowed to veil nondisclosure of responsive records behind a perfunctory search and claim that they believed that only a report listing was available when they were very well aware that actual Trespass List was available and "Used", and when the belated Trespass Report Listing was not even produced until a month after West's records request. (See date at bottom of TESC Report Listing CP 20-26)

Significantly, the defendants have not alleged that they were unaware of the existence of these other records. TESC was well aware of the existence of these "records" but deliberately decided

not to disclose them.

RCW 42.56.010 (3) and (4) define public "records" to include "existing data compilations from which information may be obtained or translated" (emphasis added),

This definition cannot be misrepresented to omit records such as the existing "TESC Trespass List", TESC Police Reports of enforcement of its Trespass Policy, or TESC Trespass related communications. Yet all of these records were requested and not produced by TESC. (CP 17-18)

For the public to be fully informed of the activities of their government so that the policy of the Public Disclosure and Records Acts can be effectuated, and so that the public may enjoy their constitutional and natural rights to peaceable use of State lands, it is imperative that key records such as records related to the enforcement of trespass laws on State lands be readily available.

The fact that these known responsive records were not disclosed by TESC was a serious omission of relevant and critical data that raises questiona as to whether it was taken to obscure and

cover up a continuing ilegal policy..

The withheld TESC Trespass List was a known responsive record meeting the definitions of RCW 42.56.010 (3) and (4). As the Supreme Court held in PAWS v. University of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) the failure to produce responsive records known to exist constitutes silent withholding.

TESC therefore violated the PRA by refusing to provide the known responsive records to the plaintiff, particularly when they were known existing records relating to the TESC Trespass Policy.

II The Court erred in dismissing appellant's claims including those related to the threats, arrest, and false imprisonment by TESC under color of its criminal trespass policy taken to chill the exercise of West's constitutional rights

The facts of this case clearly demonstrate that not only does the TESC maintain an illegal Trespass policy, but it employed it to threaten and arrest West unlawfully in an attempt to chill the exercise of constitutional rights.

The Transcript of the hearing of December 20, at pages 22-25, along with the declarations of John Hurley, Ed Sorger, and the Plaintiff, clearly set forth facts sufficient to establish at least a material issue as to wether the appellant was seized, arrested, or unreasonably detained in violation of the 4rth Amendment, under color of the TESC Trespass Policy.

When West entered onto the campus to inspect TESC records, he was threatened with the application of the TESC Trespass Policy and arrested, detained, falsely imprisoned for investigation of "Criminal Trespass" pursuant to policies usages and customs of the Evergreen State College. The first, unaltered

declaration of John Hurley (CP 52, lines 4-5) attests to the Unlawful policy correctly.

In Bouie v. City of Columbia, South Carolina, 378 U.S. 347 (1964) it was held that in giving retroactive application to a new construction of a criminal trespass statute to prosecuting two African American Gentlemen for Trespass, a racist City Government deprived petitioners of their right to fair warning of a criminal prohibition, and thus violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The declaration of Officer Monohon attests to an arreest and detention under color of the TESC Trespass Policy (CP 117) Yet despite clear contested facts concerning the unlawful seizure and detention of West under color of the TESC Trespass Policy, and inconsistent and contradictory testimony from the TESC witnesses, the court wrongfully granted summary judgment to TESC on all issues. It was error and a violation of CR 56 for the Court to grant summary judgment when material facts had been reasonably controverted.

III The Court erred in failing to grant a continuance, suppressing relevant evidence, allowing the submission of inconsistent and/or perjured testimony, and in granting summary judgment when factual issues were disputed.

Due process of law requires a reasonable opportunity to present one's case. Sniadach v. Family Finance Corp., 395 U.S. 337 (1969) The various actions of the Court in this case abridges the appellant's right to basic due process of law and combined to deny justice based upon altered and inconsistent declarations, material facts that were far from undisputed, and outright misrepresentations of the record by counsel.

In Bouie v. City of Columbia, South Carolina, 378 U.S. 347 (1964) it was held that in giving retroactive application to a new construction of a criminal trespass statute to prosecuting two African American Gentlemen for Trespass, a racist City Government deprived petitioners of their right to fair warning of a criminal prohibition, and thus violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The TESC trespass policy is nearly identical to that

complained of by Bouie and his associate, and has also been used in at least a class based discriminatory manner to target the disenfranchised, poor and homeless (to say nothing of the politically objectionable such as West) in a TESC maintained "Rogues Gallery" of citizens subject to criminal prosecution if they dare to attempt to exercise their civl rights on State land held in trust for the people by the TESC Trustees.

The first declaration of John Hurley clearly identifies the illegal application of the TESC Trespass policy, and it was an abuse of discretion for the Court to allow a materially altered declaration to be filed by counsel at the last minute, particularly when the declaration may very well have been based upon suborned misleading statements of material fact. (See CP 51-52, (first Hurley Declaration, and CP 90-92, second, inconsistent, altered declaration)

Because this case is before (the Court) for a review of a ruling on a motion for summary judgment, we must review the facts and the reasonable inferences from them in the light most favorable to Jones as the nonmoving party. *Bishop v. Miche*, 137 Wn.2d 518,

523, 973 P.2d 465 (1999). A genuine issue of material fact exists if, after weighing the evidence, reasonable minds could reach different factual conclusions about an issue that is material to the disputed claim. *See Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 775, 698 P.2d 77 (1985). We conclude there is a genuine issue of material fact... Jones v. State, 170 Wn.2d 338, (2010)

IV The Court erred in abusing its discretion to attempt to evade an appeal by not entering a final Order subject to Appeal

In this case, the record is clear that West filed a motion for reconsideration within 10 days of entry of judgment but apparently did not also note the matter for a hearing or other disposition. CR 59. TESC contends these flaws render the appeal untimely. It did not; a party's failure to note a motion for reconsideration at the time of filing does not affect the time allowed for filing a notice of appeal. In re Detention of Turay, 139 Wn.2d 379, 391, 986 P.2d 790 (1999); Buckner, Inc. v. Berkey Irrigation Supply, 89 Wn. App. 906, 916, 951 P.2d 338 (1998).

The filing of a timely motion for reconsideration tolls the time for filing of the appeal until the trial court decides the motion. RAP 5.2(a), (e); see also Turay, 139 Wn.2d at 391-92; Buckner, 89 Wn. App. at 916; In re Marriage of Estes, 84 Wn. App. 586, 595, 929 P.2d 500 (1997). 'The rule of appellate procedure makes no reference to the timeliness of the trial court's decision on the motion for reconsideration.' Estes, 84 Wn. App. At 595.

The delay in deciding the motion does not affect the tolling of the time for filing an appeal. Estes, 84 Wn. App. at 595. Because West filed a notice of appeal within 30 days after the trial court indicated it was evading entering a ruling on the motion for reconsideration, the appeal is timely. Turay, 139 Wn.2d at 391; Buckner, 89 Wn. App. at 916; Estes, 84 Wn. App. at 595.

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT:

This case underscores why the paramount right to be informed of the operation of government as is a precondition to the

sound governance of a free society.

For the laws off the State of Washington to actually be enforced as they are written on the campus of TESC, it is imperative that the records of the unlawful TESC Trespass policy be disclosed, and that our courts operate as required by the constitution and laws.

In enacting the Public Records Act, now codified as Chapter 42.56 RCW, both the people and the legislature of this state have declared and affirmed a policy of open government. (See RCW 42.56.030).

A decision to allow TESC to flaunt its noncompliance with both the PRA and the laws of Trespass would utterly contravene this policy, as well as the constitutional mandate assigning such policy decisions to the legislature. *See Moran* v. *State*, 88 Wn. 2d 867, 875, 568 P.2d 758 (1977) ("We must always remember that we are not a super legislature. It is not our role in government to enact legislation or to add provisions or to change provisions in legislation which are otherwise clear.").

The decision of the Trial Court should be vacated, and this

case remanded back for further proceedings, with instructions for the award of appropriate costs and penalties for the unlawful withholding of records related to the TESC Trespass Policy and its unlawful application to arbitrarily bar citizens from lawful enjoyment of public lands in the absence of due process of law.