### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ARTHUR WEST,

Appellant,

v.

### THE EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondents.

### **RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

ROBERT FERGUSON Attorney General

COLLEEN G. WARREN Senior Counsel WSBA No. 16506 1125 Washington Street SE P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-0700

### **

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

There is no merit to West's argument that the document produced to him was "only a report listing" and not the "actual Trespass List" that was used by the College. Appellant's Opening Br. at 13. The document produced was the document that was responsive to his request, the College

conducted reasonable searches, and West was not denied responsive documents.

In summary, West's arguments are not supported by the record or the law. West identifies no reversible error with respect to his PRA claims.

# D. The Trial Court Properly Granted the College's Motion for Summary Judgment Dismissing West's Claims for False Arrest and False Imprisonment

West also appeals the January 3, 2014 order granting partial summary judgment dismissing all other claims that remained in the lawsuit after the dismissal of his public records act claims. CP 190. He assigns error only to dismissal of claims relating to "threats, arrest, and false imprisonment" by the College. Appellant's Opening Br. at 6, 16. He argues that when he "entered onto the campus to inspect the College's records, he was threatened with the application of the College's Trespass Policy and arrested, detained, [and] falsely imprisoned for investigation of 'Criminal Trespass' pursuant to policies usages and customs of the Evergreen State College." Appellant's Opening Br. at 16. He argues that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether he "was seized, arrested, or unreasonably detained in violation of the 4rth [sic] Amendment." Appellant's Opening Br. at 16.

This Court should affirm summary judgment because West's claims are barred due to his failure to file a tort claim as required by RCW 4.92.100 and .110. Alternatively, the Court can affirm summary judgment on the basis that West has not supported his appeal with citation to authority or evidence in the record.

## 1. West's Claims for False Arrest and False Imprisonment Are Barred Due to His Failure to Comply With the Tort Claim Filing Requirements of RCW 4.92.100 and .110

West's claims of false arrest and false imprisonment are tort claims. Before filing a tort action against the state, a plaintiff must file a verified claim with the Office of Risk Management (ORM). RCW 4.92.100; Levy v. State, 91 Wn. App. 934, 942, 957 P.2d 1272 (1998). No action subject to the claim filing requirements of RCW 4.92.100 can be commenced against the state or its agents for damages arising out of tortious conduct until 60 calendar days after the filing of the claim. RCW 4.92.110. Strict compliance with the statute is required. Levy, 91 Wn. App. at 942. Dismissal is the proper remedy for failure to comply with these tort claim filing requirements. Hyde v. Univ. of Wash. Med. Ctr., \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_ 2015 WL 1648990 (Div. I) (2015).

West is not permitted to file his tort lawsuit against the College without first filing a tort claim with ORM as required by RCW 4.92.100. West has never filed a tort claim for false arrest or false imprisonment.

West filed a tort claim with ORM on May 14, 2010, but nothing in that claim suggests someone falsely arrested or imprisoned him. CP 94-99. He stated:

As part of a continuing pattern and policy of invidious violation of rights protected under 42 USC 1983-5 and 18 USC 241, TESC Vice president and other officials attempted to obstruct access to public records and threatened to "Trespass" West for attempting to obtain records in a reasonable time. **TESC Police were summoned and conducted an investigation although the police did not do anything of their own accord.** These continuing violations have caused substantial mental and emotional distress.

CP 99 (emphasis added). The 2010 tort claim makes no mention of seizure, arrest, or false imprisonment by the police as RCW 4.92.100 requires. CP 98.

Although the trial court dismissed West's claims on other grounds, this Court can affirm the dismissal on appeal for failure to comply with RCW 4.92.100 and .110 as the issue was argued below. *See Heath v. Uraga*, 106 Wn. App. 506, 515, 24 P.3d 413 (2001) (appellate court may affirm a trial court's disposition of a summary judgment order on any basis supported by the record even if not considered by the trial court).

# 2. This Court Should Decline to Consider West's Claims of False Imprisonment and False Arrest Given His Failure to Brief the Issues on Appeal in This Case

West's appeal may also be rejected based on his failure to provide any reasonable or useful argument. Pro se litigants are held to the same standards as attorneys and must comply with all procedural rules on appeal. In re Marriage of Olson, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993). An appellant must provide "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." RAP 10.3(a)(6). When a point is asserted without argument, citation to the record, and pertinent legal authority, it is without foundation and requires no discussion by the reviewing court. See Tran v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 223, 961 P.2d 358 (1998) (arguments unsupported by any authority need not be considered on appeal); Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (a party abandons assignments of errors unsupported by argument and the court does not need to consider them on appeal). The Court should decline to review this assignment of error based on West's failure to provide a cogent legal argument supported by relevant authority and citation to the record as required by RAP 10.3(a)(6).

# 3. Even if the Record Cited by West Is Reviewed, It Shows No Evidence That West Was Arrested or Imprisoned by the College's Police

To prove false arrest, a plaintiff must show unlawful violation of a person's right of liberty or the restraint of that person without legal authority. *Bender v. City of Seattle*, 99 Wn.2d 582, 590-91, 664 P.2d 492 (1983). The gist of false arrest and false imprisonment is essentially the same; i.e., the unlawful violation of a person's right of personal liberty. *Youker v. Douglas County*, 162 Wn. App. 448, 258 P.3d 60 (2011) (citing *Heckart v. City of Yakima*, 42 Wn. App. 38, 39, 708 P.2d 407 (1985)). A false imprisonment occurs when ever a false arrest occurs. *Id.* As the party seeking summary judgment, the College demonstrated the absence of a genuine issue of material fact in regard to West's claim that he was falsely arrested and unlawfully seized based upon the alleged threatened application of the "TESC Criminal Trespass Policy" on May 14, 2010. The record in this case does not contain any evidence of West's arrest or imprisonment.

First, the record shows only that under the College's trespass policy, it may issue a notice of trespass warning to a person who presents a threat of harm to College property or to the personal safety of any member of the campus community. CP 114. Under the policy, persons served with a trespass warning are on notice that if they defy an order to

leave College premises, they can be subject to criminal arrest for trespass as provided in RCW 9A.52.070 and .080. CP 114. The College tracks persons issued a trespass warning in the list that has been called "Trespass Report Listing." CP 20. Accordingly, arguments about threats of application of the College's policy is not evidence that West was arrested, seized, or imprisoned.

Second, the material facts were uncontroverted and demonstrate West was not arrested, seized, or imprisoned. West arrived at the College on May 14, 2010, to review and obtain copies of public records. CP 51, 53. During the review, a staff member requested campus police to come to the president's office where West was waiting for copies. CP 51. West was asked to produce his identification by Officer Monohon, one of the officers who responded to the call. CP 117. Officer Monohon did not know West and was documenting his identity for this contact. CP 117. Chief Sorger and Officer Monohon asked West to leave the area after West had received the documents he had requested. CP 114. Chief Sorger declined West's request to be issued a trespass warning. CP 114. West expressed disappointment in not being issued a trespass warning and voluntarily left the president's office. CP 114, 117.

The burden shifted to West to present evidence demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue of fact regarding his claim of false arrest and

false imprisonment. *See Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225 n.1. West did not offer testimony or evidence controverting these facts. Instead, West relied on the declaration of Dr. Hurley as evidence of his arrest and unlawful seizure. CP 69. While he filed a declaration the day before the hearing (CP 124), this was stricken as untimely and is not part of this record on appeal. CP 210.

In this Court, West offers only a conclusory statement that a genuine issue of material fact may be found by reviewing a hearing transcript dated December 20, 2012, and the declarations of Dr. Hurley, Chief Sorger, and West himself.<sup>5</sup> Appellant's Opening Br. at 16.

The Hurley and Sorger declarations provide no evidence of a false arrest or imprisonment. Chief Sorger stated that "[a]lthough Mr. West acted inappropriately in addressing the public records officer during the incident described, he appeared to calm down once police services became involved and did not present any concerns that warranted the issuance of a trespass warning." CP 114. Dr. Hurley reiterated this point in his declaration stating that the police chief determined that the incident "did not warrant the issue of a criminal trespass order to Mr. West prohibiting him from being on campus." CP 52. Dr. Hurley filed a second

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> West fails to inform this Court that Judge Wickham granted the College's motion striking his declarations as untimely. CP 210. Because the trial court acted within its discretion in striking the declarations (*see* Section IV.E.2 *infra*), the declarations are not within the scope of this record on review.

declaration stating the reference to "criminal trespass order" should have been "criminal trespass warning." CP 91. Nothing about Chief Sorger's or Dr. Hurley's word choices, nor the statements contained in the rest of their declarations, show an arrest or imprisonment, or even that West was warned against a future trespass. In fact, West is free to come to the campus, and indeed has been on campus, since the May 14, 2010 incident. CP 90.

On appeal, West also cites to the second page of Officer Monohon's declaration (without argument as to what facts he is relying upon) as evidence of his arrest and unlawful seizure. Appellant's Opening Br. at 17. However, Officer Monohon explicitly states in his declaration that West was not issued a trespass warning on May 14, 2010. CP 117. While Officer Monohon asked West to produce his identification, this alone does not result in an unlawful arrest and seizure. A police officer who engages a person in conversation in a public place and asks for identification does not, standing alone, elevate a social contact to an investigative detention. State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 664-65, 222 P.3d 92 (2009). See also State v. Young, 135 Wn.2d 498, 511, 957 P.2d 681 (1998) (police are permitted to engage persons in conversation and ask for identification even in the absence of an articulable suspicion of wrongdoing). "Nor does the fact the officer is in uniform and armed, without more, convert the

encounter to a seizure requiring some level of objective justification." *State v. Belanger*, 36 Wn. App. 818, 820, 677 P.2d 781 (1984).

West assigns error claiming "material facts had been reasonably controverted." Appellant's Opening Br. at 17. West cites to legal authority for the principle that a court must review the facts and the reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. However, West fails to make even a single reference to the specific facts or evidence he relies upon to show the existence of a disputed issue of material fact that creates reversible error.

To demonstrate error, West must present meaningful legal analysis supported by citations to relevant authority and citations to facts in the record that support the claim of error. RAP 10.3(a)(6). West cites to *Bouie v. City of Columbia*, 378 U.S. 347, 84 S. Ct. 1697, 12 L. Ed. 2d 894 (1964) as legal authority purportedly relied upon but without argument, cogent or otherwise, as to why or how this legal authority applies to the facts of this case. *Bouie* held that due process prohibits a court from retroactively applying a new construction of a criminal statute that is "unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been

expressed prior to the conduct in issue." *Id.* at 354. This case has no relevance to the issues on appeal in this case.<sup>6</sup>

The Court should not have to sift through the record or complete legal research to find support for West's issues on appeal. In the absence of an argument in support of his assignment of error, presented with pertinent legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record, the Court should not address the issues raised in this assignment of error and consider it waived. *See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy*, 118 Wn.2d at 809.

Therefore, the Court should affirm the superior court order dismissing these claims. There is no genuine issue of fact related to these alleged torts.

E. The Trial Court Properly Denied West's Motion for a Continuance of the December 2013 Summary Judgment Hearing and Granted the College's Motion to Strike His Untimely Declarations

West's third assignment of error alleges the court erred by "failing to grant a continuance, suppressing relevant evidence, allowing the submission of inconsistent and/or perjured testimony, and in granting

38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In addition to *Bouie v. City of Columbia*, 378 U.S. 347 (1964), West cites to *Sniadach v. Family Finance Corp. of Bayview*, 395 U.S. 337, 89 S. Ct. 1820, 23 L. Ed. 2d 349 (1969). In *Sniadach* the Supreme Court held that Wisconsin's prejudgment garnishment of wages procedures, without notice and prior hearing, violates the fundamental principles of procedural due process.

summary judgment when factual issues were disputed." Appellant's Opening Br. at 6, 18. West's brief suffers from the same flaw that was addressed in regards to his second assignment of error—he does not support his assignment of error with argument or evidence in the record as required by RAP 10.3(a)(6).

# 1. It Was Not an Abuse of Discretion for the Trial Court to Deny West's Motion for a Continuance

In his reply brief opposing the College's motion for summary judgment, West moved the court for "an order of continuance to allow further time for response and for leave to amend the complaint should it in any manner be found to be defective." CP 74. However, West did not provide any argument below in support of his motion. Nor has he provided an argument on appeal that the trial judge abused his discretion in denying the continuance. For this reason alone, the Court should decline to review this assignment of error.

Even if the Court reviews this assignment of error, the superior court was within its discretion in denying the continuance. A motion for continuance is governed by CR 56(f) which provides as follows:

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot, for reasons stated, present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a

39

The issues raised related to West's challenge to the grant of summary judgment were previously addressed in Sections IV.C-D *supra*.

continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

CR 56(f). Denial of a motion to continue a summary judgment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Pitzer*, 141 Wn.2d at 556. A trial court does not abuse its discretion if: (1) the requesting party does not offer a good reason for the delay in obtaining the desired evidence; (2) the requesting party does not state what evidence would be established through the additional discovery; or (3) the desired evidence will not raise a genuine issue of material fact. *Id*.

West did not submit an affidavit addressing these topics as required by CR 56(f). In the absence of an affidavit, there was no abuse of the trial court's discretion and the court's order must be affirmed on appeal.

# 2. It Was Not an Abuse of the Trial Court's Discretion to Strike West's Declarations

West does not identify what evidence he contends was suppressed by the trial court in support of this assignment of error. Appellant's Opening Br. at 18. The court did enter an order striking West's December 13 and 19, 2013 declarations as untimely. CP 170. If West's argument refers to these declarations, West has provided no argument or citation to legal authority in support of his contention that the court abused its discretion, a showing he is required to make on appeal.

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